STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 28 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONALD RAY RICHBURG,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001007

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial judge erred in ruling that the video recording of Appellant's arrest was admissible where Appellant's girlfriend and child were present and the officers threatened to arrest Appellant's girlfriend and send their child to DSS if Appellant did not come out of hiding and therefore its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

2.

Whether the trial judge erred in prohibiting defense counsel from cross-examining the lead investigator regarding Appellant's second statement in which he admitted to being present at the scene of the shooting where the state introduced Appellant's first statement in which he denied being present at the scene and Appellant's co-defendant testified at trial that Appellant was present at the scene but not involved in the shooting which was consistent with Appellant's second statement?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Sumter County grand jury for four counts of assault and battery in the first degree and one count of discharging a firearm into a dwelling. R. 301. Appellant's trial was held before the Honorable George M. McFaddin and a jury from June 10 – 12, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Jason Bridges and the state was represented by Tyler Brown. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged on all five counts. R. 287. The judge sentenced Appellant to ten years imprisonment on each count, all sentences to run concurrently. R. 295.

This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 17, 2018, Evelyn Brinson was awakened around 4:00 a.m. by the sound of gunshots outside her home. R. 54, l. 4 – 55, l. 24. Brinson got up to make sure everyone<sup>1</sup> inside the house was okay, and then she called 911. R. 54, l. 24 – 55, l. 4. Brinson's grandson Jeremy was also in the house sleeping at the time of the shooting. R. 65, l. 9 – 67, l. 8. After the shots stopped, Jeremy ran outside and claimed that he recognized the vehicle leaving the area as Ronnie Smith's<sup>2</sup> white truck. Jeremy said he knew that it was Smith's truck because of the way it sounded. R. 67, l. 22 – 68, l. 23.

Jeremy testified that he had been having a "beef" with Smith for about a year prior to the shooting. R. 73, l. 17 – 74, l. 25. Jeremy also said that the afternoon prior to the shooting he was out driving and was followed by Smith in Smith's white truck. R. 70, ll. 3 – 20. Jeremy claimed that Appellant was in the passenger seat of Smith's truck at that time. R. 71, ll. 17 – 24.

Orlando McCray, a trooper with the South Carolina Highway Patrol, initiated a traffic stop<sup>3</sup> on a white truck about thirty minutes prior to the shooting. The reason for the traffic stop was suspicion of DUI. R. 145, l. 16 – 147, l. 18. McCray approached the passenger side of the vehicle at the time of the stop and shined his flashlight on the passenger's face. R. 152, ll. 8 – 13. Approximately two months later, Investigator Stewart contacted McCray and asked him if he could pick the passenger of the white truck out of a six-person photo lineup. McCray identified Appellant as the passenger in the white truck. R. 152, l. 18 – 156, l. 15.

---

<sup>1</sup> There were a total of four people inside the home at the time of the shooting: Barry Brinson, Evelyn Brinson, Jeremy Brinson, and Summer Holiday. R. 54, ll. 1 – 15.

<sup>2</sup> Ronnie Smith was Appellant's co-defendant.

<sup>3</sup> McCray was in the passenger seat of the highway patrol cruiser because he was training another officer who was driving at the time that they initiated the stop. Ultimately, Smith, who was the driver of the truck, was issued a warning ticket and allowed to leave.

Randall Stewart, with the Sumter County Sheriff's Office, was the lead investigator assigned to the shooting. R. 171, l. 1 – 172, l. 16. After speaking with Jeremy Brinson, Ronnie Smith was developed as a possible suspect. R. 193, ll. 6 – 20; R. 199, ll. 16 – 24. Stewart interviewed Smith, who implicated Appellant as being the driver during the shooting. State's Ex. 85 (video recording of Smith's statement on file with this Court). Smith admitted that he was the shooter. R. 230, l. 21 – 231, l. 6. Stewart also took a written statement from Appellant in which Appellant stated that he was with Smith earlier in the day but denied being with Smith at the time of the shooting. R. 202, l. 17 – 211, l. 11. After his arrest, Appellant gave a second statement in which he told Stewart that he was with Smith during the shooting, but he did not know that Smith was going to shoot. The state chose not to introduce this statement at trial. R. 216, l. 11 – 222, l. 5.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred in ruling that the video recording of Appellant's arrest was admissible because Appellant's girlfriend and child were present and the officers threatened to arrest Appellant's girlfriend and send their child to DSS if Appellant did not come out of hiding and therefore its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

### **Relevant Facts**

After Investigator Stewart obtained arrest warrants for Appellant, he was unable to make contact with him. Specifically, Stewart maintained that Appellant would not answer his phone and Stewart also attempted to contact members of Appellant's family which were unsuccessful. R. 212, l. 20 – 214, l. 8. Because Stewart was unable to effectuate the arrest of Appellant, the warrants were turned over to the Fugitive Task Force Team. R. 214, ll. 9 – 15.

Ronald Dodson, a member of the Fugitive Task Force Team, testified that he was able to locate Appellant on August 17, 2018. R. 158, l. 21 – 159, l. 19. Dodson recalled that he received information that Appellant was staying at a hotel in Sumter and he and several other officers responded to the hotel in an attempt to arrest Appellant. R. 161, l. 12 – 162, l. 6. One of the officers who responded to the hotel was wearing a body camera which showed the arrest of Appellant. R. 162, l. 12 – 163, l. 3; State's Ex. 7 (body camera footage of Appellant's arrest on file with this Court).

The body camera footage showed multiple armed officers approaching a hotel room and knocking on the door. State's Ex. 7 at 0:00 – 2:00. While knocking on the door, one of the officer's said: "Courtney, open the door. We know you're in there. Open the door so we don't

have to call DSS.” State’s Ex. 7 at 2:00 – 2:30. Courtney was Appellant’s girlfriend and the mother of his son. Both Courtney and Appellant’s son were present inside the hotel room when the officers arrived.

Shortly after the officers begin demanding that Courtney open the door, she came out of the room with a young child in her arms. State’s Ex. 7 at 3:15. Courtney stated that she was getting ready to bathe the child and the bath water was running. When asked whether anyone was in the hotel room with her, she said no. State’s Ex. 7 at 3:20. One of the officers then stated to Courtney that if they found Appellant inside the hotel room that they would arrest her and take the child to DSS. State’s Ex. 7 at 3:30. Courtney maintained that Appellant was not inside the hotel room and the officer’s continued to threaten her with arrest and taking her child. The officer’s had Courtney sit down outside while they entered the room. State’s Ex. 7 at 3:30 – 4:15.

When the officers entered the hotel room, they could be heard announcing their presence and demanding that Appellant come out with his hands up. State’s Ex. 7 at 4:15 – 5:10. One of the officer’s then came back outside and told Courtney that Appellant was “in the ceiling” which Courtney denied. State’s Ex. 7 at 5:15. The officer again told Courtney that he was going to get Appellant out of the room and then stated: “When I get him, you’re going to jail and your baby’s going to DSS.” State’s Ex. 7 at 5:15 – 5:25.

The officer who was threatening Courtney ordered her to stand up, go inside the room and sit down in a chair. When they entered the hotel room, another officer could be heard saying “lock her up” and the officer who was threatening Courtney responded: “Oh she’s going to jail.” State’s Ex. 7 at 5:30 – 5:50. This same officer then asked Courtney: “Is that [Appellant’s] baby”

while pointing his finger at the child. Courtney responded that the child was Appellant's child. State's Ex. 7 at 5:50 – 5:55.

At that time, the officer who had been threatening Courtney turned to the other officers who can be seen congregated at the bathroom door, and said: "Hey, tell [Appellant] that that baby is going to DSS if he doesn't come out." State's Ex. 7 at 5:55 – 5:58. Immediately, another officer yelled out: "The baby is going to DSS if you don't bring your ass down now." State's Ex. 7 at 5:58 – 6:03. Shortly after this Appellant can be seen emerging from the bathroom and being put in handcuffs by the officers. State's Ex. 7 at 6:30 – 7:15.

Defense counsel made a pretrial motion to exclude the body camera footage of Appellant's arrest under Rule 403, SCRE because the probative value of the video was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant. Defense counsel specifically pointed out that the body camera footage showed the officers talking about taking Appellant's child and turning him over to DSS and arresting his girlfriend. R. 24, l. 19 – 26, l. 2.

The assistant solicitor responded that the body camera footage showed evidence of flight which created an inference of Appellant's guilt. R. 26, l. 5 – 9. Defense counsel argued that the only probative value in the video was to show that Appellant was ultimately arrested after he initially fled. No evidence of the shooting was recovered during the arrest of Appellant and the video was extremely prejudicial due to its content. R. 27, l. 18 – 28, l. 15.

The judge ruled that the body camera footage was admissible. R. 29, ll. 7 – 9. The body camera footage was introduced during Dodson's testimony and was played to the jury over defense counsel's renewed objection. R. 162, l. 20 – 163, l. 23.

## Discussion

Under Rule 403, SCRE, relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.” State v. Spears, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 2013).

The trial judge erred in admitting the video of Appellant’s arrest over defense counsel’s objection. The video’s probative value consisted solely of showing the defendant’s flight. However, the video showed much more than the defendant’s flight. The video showed law enforcement officers threatening to arrest Appellant’s girlfriend for “harboring” when she told the officers on the scene that Appellant was not inside the hotel room. Even more significantly, it showed the officers threatening to take Appellant’s child and place him in DSS custody. The officers went so far as to make a direct threat to Appellant when one of them loudly yelled: “The baby is going to DSS if you don’t bring your ass down now.” State’s Ex. 7 at 5:58 – 6:03.

In State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992), this Court held that the defendant’s statements to law enforcement were involuntarily made and inadmissible. The reason the Corns Court found the defendant’s statements to be inadmissible was because his statements were made in response to the officers threatening to arrest his wife and take his children to DSS. Id. at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327. The Court determined that the threats made against the defendant’s wife and children amounted to improper influence rendering his confession involuntary. Id.

Although Corns dealt with the admissibility of a defendant’s statement, the opinion highlights the problematic nature of officer’s making threats against a defendant’s family. To the extent that a threat against a defendant’s family may render his statements in response to such

a threat inadmissible, so to should a video recording showing these threats being made be closely scrutinized under Rule 403, SCRE. While Appellant did not make any incriminating statements on the video, he did apparently heed the officer's demands only in response to those threats being made to him. See State's Ex. 7.

Our Courts have held that while evidence of flight may be admissible to show a guilty conscience, it is not necessarily always admissible. See State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006) (recognizing that evidence of flight may be used to show a guilty conscience but holding that defendant's failure to stop for a blue light was inadmissible because it was not motivated by the outstanding murder charge); State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 742 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App. 2013) (evidence that Martin gave false information to police was inadmissible because there was no nexus between the false information and the charged crime).

However, the objection made here was not to evidence of Appellant's flight. Evidence of flight is normally just testimony that the defendant was arrested later elsewhere. The objection was to a video of his arrest which contained extremely prejudicial information regarding the arrest of his girlfriend and the placing of his child into DSS custody. R. 24, 1. 19 – 26, 1. 2. There was no contention by the defense that the state could not present testimony regarding Appellant's evasive behavior after warrants were issued for his arrest. However, the state cannot introduce evidence where the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. "Under our system of justice, a conviction must be based upon evidence of the offense for which the accused is on trial rather than prior criminal or immoral acts." State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 120, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984).

In State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 549, 552 S.E.2d 300, 312 (2001), the Supreme Court found that the admission of song lyrics written by the defendant while he was incarcerated

were inadmissible character evidence. The Court found that the song lyrics regarding leaving “no prints” and “bodies left in a pool of blood” were vague and had minimal probative value. Furthermore, the admission of the song lyrics had a substantial danger of unfair prejudice because it tended to suggest that the defendant had a general bad and violent character. The Court went on to find that the admission of this improper character evidence was harmless because there was other properly admitted evidence of the defendant’s violent character. Id. at 550, 552 S.E.2d at 313.

The extremely prejudicial nature of the content of the video lies primarily in the insinuation that Appellant was abandoning his son and girlfriend. The jury could view the video as showing Appellant to be a bad father and boyfriend which was of course not a proper consideration for the jury. The video was wholly unnecessary and a gratuitous attack on Appellant’s character while providing minimal probative value. It showed that Appellant was willing to allow his girlfriend to be arrested and his child taken into DSS custody instead of surrendering to the police himself.

The question before the jury was whether Appellant knowingly participated in the shooting of the Brinson’s house. The jury did not need to consider whether Appellant was a “good” or “bad” father to his child, or significant other to his girlfriend. However, the video introduced this exact consideration into the jury’s deliberations by showing the presence of Appellant’s child and the officer’s threatening to take the child into DSS custody. The trial judge erred in admitting the body camera footage of the hotel scene with his girlfriend and child and Appellant’s arrest because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Appellant’s convictions should be reversed. See State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992).

The trial judge erred in prohibiting defense counsel from cross-examining the lead investigator regarding Appellant's second statement in which he admitted to being present at the scene of the shooting because the state introduced Appellant's first statement in which he denied being present at the scene and Appellant's co-defendant testified at trial that Appellant was present at the scene but not involved in the shooting which was consistent with Appellant's second statement.

### **Relevant Facts**

A pre-trial Jackson v. Denno<sup>4</sup> hearing was held to determine the admissibility of Appellant's statements to law enforcement. Randall Stewart took two statements from Appellant during his investigation. R. 5, l. 19 – 6, l. 2; R. 16, l. 7 – 19, l. 14; R. 298, 299; R. 300; State's Ex. 6 (body camera footage of Appellant's second statement on file with this Court). The first statement was prior to Appellant's arrest and the second was after. R. 6, ll. 3 – 22; R. 15, ll. 16 – 25.

In Appellant's first statement to Stewart, he stated that he had been with Smith earlier in the day but was not with Smith at the time of the shooting. R. 299. In Appellant's second statement, he told Stewart that he was present with Smith at the time of the shooting but did not know that Smith was going to shoot at the Brinson's house. See State's Ex. 6. The judge ruled that both statements were admissible.<sup>5</sup> R. 22, l. 10 – 23, l. 15.

Appellant's co-defendant, Ronnie Smith, also gave a video recorded statement in which he admitted he was the shooter and implicated Appellant as a knowing and willing participant.

---

<sup>4</sup> Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

<sup>5</sup> Defense counsel objected to the admissibility of the first statement but not the second statement. R. 19, l. 21 – 20, l. 2.

See State's Ex. 85 (video recording of Smith's statement on file with this Court). However, Smith's testimony at trial on cross-examination was that although Appellant was the driver at the time of the shooting, Appellant did not know that Smith was going to shoot at the house. R. 130, l. 17 – 137, l. 5.

The state only introduced Appellant's first statement in its case in chief which was introduced and published to the jury during Stewart's direct examination. R. 210, l. 5 – 211, l. 11. Before defense counsel cross-examined Stewart, the state moved to prevent counsel from questioning Stewart regarding Appellant's second statement. The assistant solicitor argued that it was self-serving hearsay and therefore inadmissible. The solicitor further argued that the second statement was not admissible pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE because the second statement was given six months after the first statement. The assistant solicitor cited to State v. Tennant, 383 SC 245, 678 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 2009) and State v. Oglesby, 384 SC 289, 681 S.E.2d 620 (Ct. App. 2009) for support. R. 216, l. 11 – 219, l. 16.

Defense counsel responded that he did not intend to introduce Appellant's full statement but did intend to ask Stewart whether Appellant "later admit[ed] to being on the scene." R. 219, ll. 19 – 24. Counsel argued that was not a self-serving statement because it was an admission by Appellant that he was present at the scene. R. 219, l. 24 – 220, l. 18. The judge agreed with the state and did not allow defense counsel to cross-examine Stewart regarding Appellant's admission that he was with Smith at the time of the shooting. Specifically, the judge stated: "I'm going to adopt the State's position on this." R. 222, ll. 1 – 5.

## **Discussion**

Rule 106, SCRE provides:

When a writing, or recorded statement, or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction at that time of any other part or any other writing or recorded statement which ought in fairness to be considered contemporaneously with it.

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