STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 17 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001007

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

DONALD RAY RICHBURG,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

141 N. Main St.
Sumter, South Carolina 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted the video recording of Appellant's arrest into evidence because it was probative of guilt. It demonstrated Appellant's knowledge that police were after him and his willingness to take extreme actions to evade arrest.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in permitting the State to introduce the video recording of his arrest because during the recording officers threatened to arrest Appellant's girlfriend and place their child in the custody of DSS. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. The trial judge properly allowed the introduction of the recording because it was important evidence of Appellant's flight: Appellant hid in the ceiling of the hotel room and refused to exit the spot and comply with law enforcement's request for an extended period of time. Appellant's extreme actions were clear evidence of his guilty conscience and acknowledgment he participated in the drive-by shooting. Further, admission of the recording was not unfairly prejudicial because it did not suggest guilt on an improper basis: the video was not submitted for the purpose of discrediting Appellant's relationship with his girlfriend or child, but to demonstrate his knowledge of the officers' presence and his willingness to remain in hiding while officers were at the hotel room.

Analysis

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

“Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence”). If a piece of evidence could assist the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue, it is relevant and should be admitted during trial. State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986). However, even relevant evidence may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice,” as used in the rule allowing the exclusion of evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis. State v. Saltz 346 S.C. 114, 127, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001).

“Flight from prosecution is admissible as guilt.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). “Flight evidence is relevant when there is a nexus between the flight and the offense charged.” Id. However, “[t]he critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.” State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 314, 513 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1999). “This totality test and its components assist the trial court in determining the relevance of evidence of evasive conduct, as well as in weighing the probative value of that evidence against its prejudicial effect.” State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 28, 742 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2013). “It is sufficient that circumstances justify an inference that

the defendant's actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his wrongdoing and were seeking him for that purpose. Flight or evasion of arrest is a circumstance to go to the jury.” Pagan, 369 S.C. at 209, 631 S.E.2d at 266.

Initially, the State notes that Appellant does not dispute that evidence of his flight was relevant to the State’s case. Appellant only claims that method of presentation, the video recording, was an improper vehicle for introducing said evidence. Thus, this Court should accept that there is no dispute over the probative value of this evidence.

Appellant cites to State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992) to support his proposition that the officers’ statements regarding DSS and arresting Huggins. However, Corns involves an issue separate and distinct from the one presented by Appellant: in Corns, this Court found officer’s testimony that they informed Corns his wife could be arrested, charged with a marijuana offense, and that their child would be taken out of their custody amounted to improper influence rendering his incriminating statements involuntary. Id. at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327. Here, the officer’s statements to Appellant did not solicit an involuntary statement. In fact, the statements did not impact Appellant’s behavior: he was hiding in the ceiling of the room before they were made and he remained in hiding after they were made. Appellant only exited the ceiling after extended efforts by law enforcement and their announcements that officers would enter the ceiling to retrieve him.

Instead, the video recording was submitted to help establish that Appellant both was aware law enforcement was after him and that he was going to great lengths to avoid capture. In fact, Huggins’ interaction with police in the recording was additional evidence that Appellant was aware law enforcement was after him: Investigator Stewart testified he contacted Huggins about Appellant and told her he sought to arrest Appellant. Still, Huggins is found at the same

hotel room in which Appellant is ultimately discovered and denied knowledge of his location. Huggins' knowledge of the arrest warrant, along with her efforts to help Appellant hide from police, are strong evidence of his flight from law enforcement.

In fact, this Court has affirmed the admission of even “graphic and disturbing” autopsy photographs when they are relevant to the determination of issues at trial. In State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 802 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2017), this Court upheld the admission of a victim’s autopsy photographs following his death through child abuse at the hand of Thompson and the victim’s father. The photographs consisted of those taken of the child at the crime scene on the day of his death and some taken during his autopsy. These “graphic” photographs showed deep lacerations on the inside of the victim’s lower lip and bruising found all over his body. This Court found admission of those photographs “helped the jury to understand the nature and extent of Victim’s injuries as well as his condition near death. Moreover, **the photographs were highly probative of Appellant’s awareness** of [the] [v]ictim’s injuries.” Id. at 214–15, 802 S.E.2d at 634–35 (emphasis added).

The video recording did not present “unfair evidence” of Appellant’s guilt; it was not graphic or disturbing nor did it show any evidence of acts or decisions unrelated to the jury’s determination of Appellant’s guilt. The video showed that both Huggins and Appellant had knowledge of the warrant for his arrest and that both worked in concert to hide him from officers. Further, it showed that Appellant did not merely hide behind a door or in a separate room, but that he climbed into the ceiling of a hotel room and remained there for a period of time in direct non-compliance with the officers sent to arrest him. Considering this Court has admitted even autopsy photographs when they are relevant to the determination of an issue at

trial, admission of this video recording which established Appellant's efforts to flee from law enforcement was, without question, a proper decision by the trial judge.

II.

The trial judge properly prohibited defense counsel from cross-examining the lead investigator on Appellant's second statement to police because it was not presented during the State's case and it was not admissible pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in preventing trial counsel from cross-examining Investigator Stewart about Appellant's second statement to his police, the one offered after his arrest, even though it was not presented during the State's case-in-chief. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Notably, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because at trial, Appellant did not argue that his first statement was "incomplete" pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE; instead, Appellant argued introduction of the second statement was proper as a means of clarifying that the defense was not presenting an alibi defense at trial. Regardless, the trial judge properly found Appellant's second statement was not admissible pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE because it was not part of the first statement, but an entirely separate additional statement made approximately six months after the first statement. Accordingly, trial counsel could have presented the second statement had it chosen to present evidence, but it could not compel the inclusion of the second statement into the State's case through Rule 106, SCRE.

Issue Preservation

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is "to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review."

Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Moreover, a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”).

As mentioned supra, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. At trial, Appellant never argued the second statement was required to complete the jury’s understanding of the first statement. Instead, trial counsel argued he sought to admit the second statement to clarify for the jury that he was not presenting an alibi defense. This is a critical distinction: trial counsel never

claimed Appellant's first statement, as presented by the State, was itself incomplete or taken out of context. Because Appellant's current argument was never raised it to the trial judge, it is not preserved for review by this Court. See Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584..

Analysis

Should this Court determine this issue is preserved for Appellate review, it is still a meritless claim for relief. Appellant's second statement to police was not admissible pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE because it was an independent and separate statement from the first; made six months after the first statement, it did not clarify or "complete" the initial statement. Instead, it was a retraction of Appellant's statements to Investigator Stewart and an attempt to mitigate his potential punishment for his involvement in the drive-by shooting.

Pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE:

When a writing, or recorded statement, or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction at that time of any other part of any other writing or recorded statement which ought in fairness to be considered contemporaneously with it.

Rule 106 is a procedural rule that governs the timing of the completion of evidence and is designed to affect the order of proof. State v. Taylor, 333 S.C. 159, 170-71, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998). There is no requirement that the writings or recordings be contemporaneous or responsive to one another. State v. Tennant, 394 S.C. 5, 14, 714 S.E.2d 297, 302 (2011). The Supreme Court explained in Tennant that "[t]he standard here is 'fairness,' not responsiveness." Id. Tennant quotes, with approval, the Fed.R.Evid. 106 advisory committee's note as follows: "The [corresponding federal] rule is based on two considerations. The first is the misleading impression created by taking matters out of context. The second is the inadequacy of repair work when delayed to a point later in the trial."

To support his argument, Appellant cites to two prior South Carolina cases: State v. Jackson, 265 S.C. 278, 217 S.E.2d 794 (1975), and State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004). However, neither case is comparable to Appellant’s situation at trial. In Jackson, the Supreme Court of South Carolina found that a trial judge properly allowed the State to cross-examination a defense witness, a police officer, who spoke with and observed three witnesses who identified Jackson in a line-up and expressed some hesitation over their identification of him. Notably, the State asked the witness about other statements and behaviors exhibited by the witnesses during the line-up process. The court explained that “[w]hen **part of a conversation** is put into evidence an adverse party is entitled to prove the **remainder of the conversation**, so long as it is relevant, particularly when it explains or gives new meaning to the part initially recited.” Id. at 283–84, 217 S.E.2d at 796–97n (emphasis added)

Similarly, in Cabrera-Pena, the Supreme Court found that after the State examined an officer who had interviewed the defendant, defense counsel was entitled to cross-examine that officer on other written and oral statements made during that interview because “justice required that [Cabrera-Pena’s] remaining statements tending to explain or qualify those statements should have been considered in connection therewith.” Id. at 361 S.C. 378–79, 605 S.E.2d at 525. Further, the Court noted that Cabrera-Pena’s case was “not a case in which the defendant gave numerous written and oral statements to police over several hours, days or weeks. To the contrary, this was a one-hour conversation with police wherein Cabera-Pena ‘gave a statement—a written statement and vocal statements.’” Id.

Appellant fails to acknowledge that both Jackson and Cabrera-Pena explained that Rule 106, SCRE applies only to written and oral statements considered to be part of the same interaction or conversation. Further, Appellant fails to acknowledge any of the cases subsequent

to Cabrera-Pena which reinforce those opinions. In State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 681 S.E.2d 620 (Ct. App. 2009), this Court further clarified Cabrera-Pena and noted “only that portion of the remainder of any statement which explains or clarifies the previously admitted portion should be allowed into evidence.” Id. at 294, 681 S.E.2d at 622.

In the instant case, Appellant’s second statement to police was nothing like the statements at issue in Jackson, Cabrera-Pena, and Oglesby: those statements were critical portions of witnesses’ interactions with law enforcement which either clarified or added context to statements already admitted into evidence. Appellant’s second statement did not clarify or “complete” his first statement: it was a self-serving retraction of the first statement made after Appellant’s arrest which occurred nearly six months later. Accordingly, the trial judge properly refused to allow trial counsel to reference the second statement during the State’s case.

CONCLUSION

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